FILED  
October 29, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 92454-6  
(COA No. 32027-8-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOEL RAMOS,

Petitioner.

FILED  
NOV 11 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
CF

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

NANCY P. COLLINS  
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, Washington 98101  
(206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Joel Ramos asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(1) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Ramos seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision dated August 13, 2015, for which reconsideration was denied on September 29, 2015. Copies are attached as Appendix A and B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In *Miller v. Alabama*,    U.S.   , 132 S.Ct 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held it violates the constitutional prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment to presumptively impose a sentence of life without the possibility of parole on a child. Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), the standard range sentence presumptively applies to any adult court sentence, even for a child. For some offenses, the presumptive term exceeds the child's natural life expectancy. Should this Court grant review to determine whether the statutory scheme that presumptively imposes a life sentence on a child violates the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 and is contrary to recent Supreme Court decisions?

2. The published Court of Appeals decision holds that *Miller* does not apply to the imposition a de facto life sentence upon 14 year-old child when convicted because the sentence is not measured by its total confinement, but rather by viewing the individual terms that were consecutively aggregated. Division One disagreed in *Ronquillo*<sup>1</sup> as have numerous other state courts. Should this Court grant review to resolve the conflict?

3. In *State v. O'Dell*, \_ Wn.2d \_\_, \_ P.3d \_\_, 2015 WL 4760476 (2015), this Court disavowed decisions that were construed as prohibiting a young adult from receiving a reduced sentence based on his youth and immaturity. The trial court relied on this now-disavowed case law when sentencing Mr. Ramos. The Court of Appeals affirmed the sentence without the benefit of *O'Dell*. Should this Court grant review of the published Court of Appeals decision because it conflicts with *O'Dell* and the trial court's sentencing decision was based on subsequently disavowed case law?

4. When the prosecution induces a person to plead guilty by promising to recommend a certain sentence, the State breaches this agreement by explicitly or implicitly giving the court reasons it may

---

<sup>1</sup> *State v. Ronquillo*, \_ Wn.App. \_\_, \_ P.3d \_\_, 2015 WL 6447740 (2015).



impose a greater sentence. The prosecutor promised to recommend a low-end sentence for Mr. Ramos but told the court that the facts justified a sentence above the standard range and the standard range could be viewed as far higher than the range in the plea agreement. Should this Court grant review to determine whether the State breached its promise in the plea agreement and encouraged a longer sentence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1993, less than one month after Joel Ramos turned 14 years old, he participated in a robbery that turned into the killing of four members of a family. CP 574-77, 588, 984. Mr. Ramos waived his right to a decline hearing where the court would have decided whether to retain his case in juvenile court based on his maturity and amenability to rehabilitation. CP 574, 971. He pled guilty in adult court to three counts of felony murder and one count of premeditated murder. CP 5. As a 14 year-old with no criminal history, he was sentenced under the adult standard range to 80 years in prison.

Mr. Ramos later received a new sentencing hearing resulting from errors in the community supervision term. *State v. Ramos*, 171 Wn.2d 46, 49, 246 P.3d 811 (2011). The Court of Appeals directed the

trial court to provide Mr. Ramos a full resentencing hearing. *State v. Ramos*, 174 Wn.App. 1042 (2013) (unpublished).

Mr. Ramos submitted hundreds of pages of materials documenting the difficult circumstances of his life at the time of the offense, including his extreme poverty, abandonment by his parents, and victimization by others; the process through which he matured while in the juvenile rehabilitation administration; and his now cemented rehabilitation as an adult who holds a position of skill and responsibility in the correctional industries, serves as a role model for other young people, and is widely viewed by prison staff as hardworking and trustworthy. *See* CP 574-982; Opening Brief at 5-8.

The State did not contest Mr. Ramos's unstable childhood, immaturity, or subsequent rehabilitation. It argued that there was no legal basis to give Mr. Ramos a lower sentence and explained instead that an aggravated exceptional sentence would be appropriate. RP 134-46. Despite the uncontested evidence of Mr. Ramos' immaturity at the time of the crime, his traumatic childhood, his lack of other criminal activity, and his record of good behavior as he matured, the court increased Mr. Ramos's sentence to 85 years of incarceration. RP 175-76.

The Department of Corrections classifies Mr. Ramos' sentence as *de facto* life without the possibility of parole, which the State concedes. CP 582; RP 141. Mr. Ramos's earliest possible release date is at 86 years old. CP 581, 986. Yet the Court of Appeals affirmed the constitutionality and rationality of his sentence in a published decision. Additional facts are set forth in the Court of Appeals opinion, pages 1-14 and Appellant's Opening Brief, at 4-11, 23-28, incorporated by reference.

E. ARGUMENT

**1. The Sentencing Reform Act's presumption that a juvenile who is transferred to adult court receives an adult sentence of life in prison is contrary to decisions of the United States Supreme Court, other state courts, and another decision of the Court of Appeals.**

*a. Recent United States Supreme Court decisions undermine the constitutionality of the SRA's presumptive sentencing scheme for 14 year olds tried in adult court.*

Because even children who commit terrible crimes are not as morally culpable as adults, the Court overturned laws imposing the harshest sentences on juveniles. *Miller* 132 S.Ct at 2460; *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 74, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010); *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 578, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1

(2005); U.S. Const. amends. 8, 14; Const. art. I, § 14. These decisions have “fundamentally altered the legal landscape for the sentencing of juvenile offenders.” *State v. Riley*, 110 A.3d 1205, 1205-06 (Conn. 2015).

Children are “constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2464. They are categorically less blameworthy and more likely to be rehabilitated. *Id.*; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 572. The principles underlying adult sentences - retribution, incapacitation, and deterrence – do not rationally lead to the same sentences for children. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 71.

Juveniles are less blameworthy because they are less capable of making reasoned decisions. *Miller*, 132 S.Ct at 2464. Scientific evidence shows the teenage brain has not developed the areas that control judgment, and its development is further delayed by traumatic childhood experiences such as poverty and abuse. *Id.* Also, children cannot control their environments and have not received a basic education. *Id.* at 2464, 2468. Most significantly, these deficits are temporary. *Id.* at 2464. As “neurological development occurs,” children demonstrate a substantial capacity for change. *Id.* at 2465.

Therefore, incapacitating a child for the rest of his life is rarely a justifiable punishment when a juvenile's developmental immaturity is temporary and the capacity for change is substantial. *Id.* at 2464-65. As Chief Justice Roberts noted, there is a "general presumption of diminished culpability that *Roper* indicates should apply to juvenile offenders." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 92 (Roberts, J., concurring).

This Court has not yet addressed the application of these principles to a child whose case is transferred to adult court due to a decline statute. Under the controlling adult-based sentencing scheme, a standard range sentence must be imposed unless a departure is authorized by statute and the court finds substantial and compelling reasons to depart from it. *State v. Law*, 154 Wn.2d 85, 94, 110 P.3d 717 (2005).

In *Law*, the court ruled that the SRA "prohibit[s] exceptional sentences based on factors personal in nature to a particular defendant." *Id.* at 97. A "personal factor" that may not be used to reduce a standard range sentence includes the convicted person's age, efforts at rehabilitation, economic status, education, strong family support, altruistic efforts, or drug use. *Id.* at 97-98 & n.9. The *Law* Court ruled that "[t]he age of the defendant does not relate to the crime or the

previous record of the defendant” and therefore it is a “personal factor” that is not a basis to impose an exceptional sentence. *Id.* (citing *State v. Ha'mim*, 132 Wn.2d 834, 846-47, 940 P.2d 633 (1997)).

In the recent *O'Dell* decision, this Court disavowed cases treating *Ha'mim* as prohibiting youth a basis for a reduced sentence. 2015 WL 4760476 at \*6-8, 9. *O'Dell* does not discuss *Law*, even though *Law* followed *Ha'mim* and construed it as requiring sentencing courts to focus on only the circumstances of the offense, not other factors individual to the convicted person like youth or immaturity.

Mr. Ramos's sentencing hearing occurred prior to this Court's ruling that *Ha'mim* must be construed narrowly to allow consideration of an adult's age if it impacts his behavior at the time of the crime. The sentencing judge said he was “constrained” by *Law* and must determine Mr. Ramos's sentence based on the law at the time of the offense. RP 128, 175. Even while considering *Miller*, the court focused exclusively on whether Mr. Ramos displayed the attributes of youth in his actions at the time of the offense. RP 175. It read *Law* as prohibiting it from weighing the traumatic circumstances that shaped Mr. Ramos before the 1993 incident and impaired his brain development even more than a typical 14 year-old, or from using Mr. Ramos's subsequent

rehabilitation as evidence that his behavior at the time of the incident was not due to an irredeemable criminal propensity that justifies lifetime incarceration. *See* RP 173-74.

*O'Dell* demonstrates the evolution against justifying an adult-based life sentence upon a person who was 14 years-old at the time of the crime. 2015 WL 4760476 at \* 5-6. *O'Dell* involved an 18 year-old who sought a reduced sentence based on his immaturity. In *Roper*, the court drew a line at 18 years of age for the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on imposing the death penalty because "a line must be drawn" even though the qualities distinguishing juveniles from adults do not disappear when a person turns 18. 543 U.S. at 574. *Graham* and *Miller* drew the same line for life without the possibility of parole.

Even though the legislature considered that 18 year-old individuals would be presumptively eligible for standard range sentences, this Court recognized that brain development reducing a juvenile's culpability is not complete at 18. *O'Dell*, 2015 WL 476-476 at \*5-6. Rather than reading *Miller* and *Graham* narrowly and drawing the line at 18 years old, the court ruled the legislature did not know when enacting the SRA that the psychological and neurological development of the brain continues into a person's 20s.. *Id.* at \*5. Based

on evolving knowledge of culpability, the *O'Dell* court held that a judge must weigh whether Mr. O'Dell's social and neurological immaturity was a mitigating factor justifying an exceptional sentence below the standard range. *Id.* at \*9.

Unlike *O'Dell*, there is no debate that the attributes of youth underlying *Miller* apply to Mr. Ramos, who turned 14 years old less than one month before the offense. Mr. Ramos was closer to the age where he would be presumed incapable of committing any crime than he was to being an adult. RCW 9A.04.050. Before he receives a sentence that essentially mandates he will spend the rest of his life in prison, the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 require that he receive a full and fair sentencing hearing at which the court is not constrained by case law that prohibits or severely narrows a judge's discretion in weighing personal factors related to the circumstances of the convicted juvenile's life.

*b. The published case conflicts with numerous other state court decisions holding that the severity of a sentence is measured by the total term imposed.*

The Court of Appeals dismissed *Miller* as inapplicable to a sentence other than life without the possibility of parole, and did not apply to Mr. Ramos because he 85-year sentence consists of four



consecutive sentences of one 25 year term and three 20 year terms. Slip op. at 25. This reasoning ignores *Miller*'s holding that "a scheme" mandating a child will "die in prison" necessarily "runs afoul of our cases' requirement of individualized sentencing" for children facing the most serious penalties. *Miller*, 132 S.Ct at 2460. *Miller* applies regardless of how the total sentence is reached.

Division One disagreed with *Ramos* in *Ronquillo*. 2015 WL 6447740 at \*5 & \*11 n.7. There the defendant was convicted of four offenses stemming from a shooting of four people and he received consecutive sentences totaling 51.3 years in prison. *Id.* at \*1. Relying on *Miller* and other state court decisions, Division One treated this term of imprisonment as "a de facto life sentence. It assesses Ronquillo as virtually irredeemable. This is inconsistent with the teachings of *Miller* and its predecessors." *Id.*

On this point, *Ronquillo* found "persuasive" other state court decisions, including *State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013) ("*Miller*'s principles are fully applicable to a lengthy term-of-years sentence" where the juvenile offender would otherwise face "the prospect of geriatric release."); and *Casiano v. Comm'r of Correction*, 115 A.3d 1031 (Conn. 2015) (imposition of a 50-year sentence without

the possibility of parole on a juvenile offender was subject to the sentencing procedures set forth in *Miller* ). Other states agree. The Wyoming Supreme Court explained that it would not “ignore the reality” that a lengthy aggregate sentence has the effect of mandating a juvenile die in prison when applying “the teachings of the *Roper/Graham/Miller* trilogy.” *Bear Cloud v. State*, 334 P.3d 132, 141-42 (Wyo. 2014); *see also Riley*, 110 A.3d at 1206 (viewing sentence cumulatively, “total effective sentence” means “defendant has no possibility of parole before his natural life expires” and *Miller* applies); *People v. Mendez*, 188 Cal.App.4th 47, 68 (2010) (84-year sentence premised on consecutive terms for crimes against different victims is equivalent of life without parole and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment).

By labelling *Miller* as inapplicable to consecutive sentences, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Ronquillo* and is contrary to decisions of other courts. Mr. Ramos was sentenced based on a single incident and received consecutive sentences due to the application of the standard range. His sentence should not be analyzed as a mere series of individual sentences when its effect is lifetime incarceration. This

Court should grant review based on the conflict between the Court of Appeals in *Ramos* and *Ronquillo*.

c. *The published Court of Appeals decision conflicts with O'Dell.*

The Court of Appeals issued its decision the same day this Court entered its ruling in *O'Dell*. Mr. Ramos asked the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision in light of *O'Dell*, but the Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration without comment. App. B. Based on its timing, this published decision from the Court of Appeals does not acknowledge the holding or reasoning of *O'Dell*.

Unlike *O'Dell*, the Court of Appeals called it a “faulty premise” to argue that *Miller* represented a different approach to juvenile sentencing. Slip op. at 26. It asserted that juveniles have always been treated more sensitively and less culpable than adults. Slip op. at 26-27. Yet *O'Dell* ruled that the legislature did not create the adult sentencing scheme with even youthful adult offenders in mind. 2015 WL 4760476 at \*5. *O'Dell* rejected the State’s argument that the age of the offender, even a young adult age, was explicitly considered by the legislature. *Id.* More importantly, *O'Dell* explained that the legislature enacted the SRA without “the benefit of the data underlying the decisions in *Roper*,

*Graham*, and *Miller*,” including “psychological and neurological studies” of the immature brain’s deficits. *Id.* (internal citations omitted). These deficits “reveal” young people are less able to control emotions, identify consequences, and make reasoned decisions, which makes them “less culpable for their crimes.” *Id.* at \*6.

The published Court of Appeals opinion is incompatible with *O’Dell* because *O’Dell* disavowed and narrowed case law that held personal characteristics, such as age, are not valid basis to depart from the standard range. This Court should grant review based on the conflict with *O’Dell* as well as the substantial public interest in addressing the application of *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Roper* to the sentencing of a 14 year-old.

*d. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with the Court of Appeals opinion in Ronquillo.*

In *Ronquillo*, the Court of Appeals “respectfully disagreed” with the *Ramos* Court’s analysis to the extent the cases were factually similar. 2015 WL 6447740 at \*11 n.7. *Ronquillo* illustrates the division in the Court of Appeals that will continue unless this Court grants review, leading to confusion the trial courts and among attorneys who are unsure of the parameters of *Miller*.

*e. The SRA violates the Eighth Amendment and Article I, section 14 unless it is construed as including a presumption that a 14 year-old is less culpable than an adult.*

The Eighth Amendment contains a near categorical prohibition on sentences of lifetime incarceration without parole for a juvenile who commits a homicide, a complete ban on lifetime incarceration without parole for non-homicide offenses, and a “general presumption of diminished culpability that *Roper* indicates should apply to juvenile offenders.” *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 92 (Roberts, J., concurring); *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2469. The notion that children are constitutionally different is not confined to sentencing. The Supreme Court has characterized it as absurd and “nonsensical” to analyze what a child taken into custody understands about *Miranda* warnings “without accounting for the age of the child subjected to those circumstances.” *J.D.B. v. N. Carolina*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 2405, 180 L. Ed. 2d 310 (2011). Objectively, children are more susceptible to pressures and influences than adults and constitutional rights must be enforced with that difference in mind. *Id.* at 2404-05. In the sentencing context, children’s subjective circumstances matter even more, as *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Roper* teach.

This Court has “repeated[ly] recogni[zed] that the Washington State Constitution’s cruel punishment clause often provides greater protection than the Eighth Amendment.” *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 506, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); Const. art. I, § 14. This “established principle” requires no analysis under *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). *Id.* at 506 n.11.

In *State v. S.J.C.*, 183 Wn.2d 408, 413-17, 352 P.3d 749 (2015), this Court traced the development of the juvenile justice system in this state. It recounted the “evolving notions of criminology” that led to a variety of changes in how our courts treat juveniles accused of committing crimes. *Id.* This state has long “built a constitutional wall around juvenile justice; and while the dimensions of this wall have changed, its structural integrity has not.” *Id.* at 417. However, these protections disappear for a juvenile transferred to adult court. *Id.* at 418.

The SRA does not presume reduced culpability for a 14 year-old and instead presumed Mr. Ramos should receive consecutive sentences amounting to the equivalent of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 330-31, 166 P.3d 677 (2007); former RCW 9.94A.400(1)(b); RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) (current statute). The SRA was not written with

juveniles in mind. *See O'Dell*, 2015 WL 4760476 at \*5. The decline statute is not part of the SRA. RCW 13.40.110.

Recent developments in psychology and neurology explain the fundamental difference in culpability, judgment, and the rationale for punishment of a 14 year-old. *See O'Dell*, 2015 WL 4760476 at \*5. The prohibition against cruel punishment should require courts to heavily weigh the attributes of youth against the imposition of a life sentence for a juvenile. Mr. Ramos is entitled to a new sentencing hearing where the court meaningfully adjusts his sentence downward due the effect of his young age and traumatic life circumstance on his cognitive development, as demonstrated by his subsequent rehabilitation, undermining the justification for a life sentence.

## **2. The prosecution breached its obligation under the plea agreement**

“A plea agreement is a contract, and the government is held to its literal terms.” *United States v. Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d 571, 575 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012). When a criminal defendant pleads guilty with the understanding that the prosecution will recommend a particular sentence, the defendant forgoes important constitutional rights and expects the prosecution will adhere to the terms of the agreement. *State*

*v. Carreno-Maldonado*, 135 Wn.App. 77, 83, 143 P.3d 343 (2006). The State is held to “meticulous standards of both promise and performance” due to the fundamental rights at stake. *Palermo v. Warden*, 545 F.2d 286, 296 (2d Cir.1976) (quoting *Correale v. United States*, 479 F.2d 944, 947 (1st Cir.1973)).

The State is prohibited from “explicitly or implicitly” engaging in conduct that may “circumvent the terms of the plea agreement.” *Carreno-Maldonado*, 135 Wn.App. at 83. A breach of the plea rests on the objective “effect of the State’s actions, not the intent behind them.” *State v. Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d 828, 843, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). The prosecution’s breach of a plea is a structural error. *Id.* at 87-88.

In *Carreno-Maldonado*, the prosecution agreed to recommend a low-end sentence for some counts, and clearly stated its sentencing recommendation on the record, but breached the plea agreement by reciting “potentially aggravating facts.” 135 Wn.App. at 85. The judge insisted that he was not affected by the prosecutor’s remarks but the reviewing court disregarded the judge’s belief, because “the fact that a breach occurred” is the only relevant consideration and harmless error review does not apply. *Id.* at 88. Even when a prosecutor’s reason for discussing the facts of the case is to guard against a lower sentence, “a



prosecutor must use great care in such circumstances, and the facts presented must not be of the type that make the crime more egregious than a typical crime of the same class.” *Id.* at 84-85.

The State promised it would recommend Mr. Ramos serve four consecutive terms of 20 years on each count as part of the plea agreement, which was the low-end of the standard range. CP 8. At sentencing, the prosecutor made this recommendation but also told the court that Mr. Ramos could have received an exceptional sentence *above* the standard range for his conduct. RP 140-41. He insisted that “the basis for an aggravating sentence” is “something you have to look at” when weighing what sentence to impose. RP 141. He named the aggravating factor of a victim being particularly vulnerable as something the court needed “to weigh” when deciding the sentence. RP 141. The prosecutor also explained the standard range calculation to the court as far higher than the plea agreement, telling the court “I’d like to point out” that “these are all serious, violent offenses” and the standard range would be 411-548 months had it been calculated differently than the agreed recommendation. RP 161.

This discussion echoes the improper sentencing argument in *Carreno-Maldonado*. 135 Wn.App. at 85. By insisting the court

consider facts justifying an exceptional sentence above the standard range. the prosecutor went “beyond what was necessary” to explain his sentencing recommendation and breached the plea. *Id.*


The court imposed a sentence longer than the State’s promised recommendation and five years longer than the original sentence, notwithstanding the extensive, new mitigating evidence. RP 175-76. This Court should grant review because the prosecution breached the plea agreement, which is a fundamental to the fair operation of a criminal justice system predicated on guilty pleas.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Joel Ramos respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).