RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 15, 2015, 8:04 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

E CR
RECEIVED BY EMAIL

No. 92454-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOEL RAMOS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KENNETH L. RAMM
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #16500

Yakima County Prosecutor's Office
128 N. 2nd Street, Rm 329
Yakima, WA 98901
(509) 574-1210

ORIGINAL

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE SENTENCING REFORM ACT (SRA) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO JUVENILES TRIED AS ADULTS.

As recently stated by the Washington State Supreme Court,

The *Miller* decision holds "that *mandatory* life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on 'cruel and unusual punishments.'" 132 S.

Ct. at 2460. In order to comply with the Eighth Amendment, sentencing bodies must engage in "individualized consideration" of juvenile offenders facing life in prison without the possibility of parole, and specifically to "take into account how children are different [from adults], and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 2469-70. at 2469-70. Thus, the Miller decision does not categorically bar a penalty for a class of offenders or type of crime--as, for example, we did in *Roper* [*v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005),] or *Graham* [*v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010)]. Instead, it mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process--considering an offender's youth and attendant characteristics--before imposing a particular penalty. (emphasis added).

In re Pers. Restraint of Russell Duane McNeil, 181 Wn.2d 582, 588, 334 P.3d 548 (2014).

The Eighth Amendment prohibits the infliction of "cruel and unusual punishments," and article I, section 14 of the Washington State Constitution prohibits the infliction of "cruel punishment." A sentence violates Article I, Section 14 of the Washington State Constitution when it is grossly disproportionate to the crime for which it is imposed. State v. Morin, 100 Wn. App. 25, 29, 995 P.2d 113 (2000). The state constitution provides greater protection than the federal constitution; thus, if the state provision is not violated, the statute violates neither constitution. Morin, 100 Wn. App. at 29. A punishment is grossly disproportionate "if the punishment is clearly arbitrary and shocking to the sense of justice." State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 329, 344-45, 610 P.2d 869 (1980). To determine whether a sentence is grossly disproportionate, courts consider the

following factors: (1) the nature of the offense, (2) the legislative purpose behind the statute, (3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions, and (4) the punishment imposed for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. State v. Fain, 94 Wn.2d 387, 397, 617 P.2d 720 (1980).

Ramos fails to apply the Fain factors to his sentence or otherwise demonstrate that his sentence is so grossly disproportionate to the gravity of his offense as to be arbitrary and shocking to the sense of justice. He also ignores the fact that a sentence within the guidelines provided by law is not arbitrary and shocking to the sense of justice. See State v. Farmer, 116 Wn.2d 414, 434, 805 P.2d 200, 812 P.2d 858 (1991). Instead, Ramos argues that juveniles are less blameworthy because they are less capable of making reasoned decisions. And that because of his age, sentencing him to consecutive sentences is cruel and unusual punishment. Our Supreme Court has rejected this proposition. State v. Cornejo, 130 Wn.2d 553, 569-70, 925 P.2d 964 (1996) (Eighth Amendment is not violated simply because a juvenile offender is tried as an adult and receives an adult sentence). Thus Ramos has failed to demonstrate that his sentence is cruel and unusual punishment.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN THIS CASE DOES NOT RUN COUNTER TO THIS COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. O'DELL.

In State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015), this court

held that “[f]or the reasons given below, we agree with much of the State’s interpretation of *Ha’ mim* [132 Wn.2d 834, 940 P.2d 633 (1997)]. . That decision did not bar trial courts from considering a defendant’s youth at sentencing; it held only that the trial court may not impose an exceptional sentence automatically on the basis of youth, absent any evidence that youth in fact diminished a defendant’s culpability. But we also conclude that the trial court in this case improperly interpreted *Ha’ mim* just as O’Dell does: to bar any consideration of defendant’s youth at sentencing. Thus, we find that the trial court did not meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating factor in this case, and we remand for a new sentencing hearing.” Id at 689.

This court further stated that “age may well mitigate a defendant’s culpability, even if that defendant is over the age of 18. It remains true that age is not a per se mitigating factor automatically entitling every youthful defendant to an exceptional sentence. In this respect, we adhere to our holding in *Ha’ mim*, 132 Wn.2d at 847. But, in light of what we know today about adolescents’ cognitive and emotional development, we conclude that

youth may, in fact, ‘relate to [a defendant’s] crime,’ Id. At 847 (quoting RCW 9.94A.340); that it is far more likely to diminish a defendant’s culpability that this court implied in *Ha’mim*; and that youth can, therefore, amount to a substantial and compelling factor, in particular cases, justifying a sentence below the standard range.” O’Dell at 695-696.

The trial court in O’Dell was addressing a different situation than in Ramos. In O’Dell, the defendant was over that age of 18 and was seeking an exceptional sentence. The trial court misinterpreted State v. Ha’mim to the extent that it held that could not consider age. O’Dell at 685. In Ramos, the trial court fully considered the defendant’s age and circumstances surrounding his upbringing, as well as evidence of postconviction behavior as it relates to maturity. Thus the defendant had a full and fair opportunity to put forth his youth and personal experiences as it affected his culpability.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN THIS CASE DOES NOT RUN COUNTER TO DIVISION ONE’S DECISION IN STATE V. RONQUILLO.

In State v. Ronquillo, 2015 WL 6447740 at *11 n.7., the court stated “After oral argument in this case, and contemporaneously with our Supreme Court’s opinion in O’Dell, Division Three of this court issued an opinion affirming an 85-year aggregate sentence imposed at resentencing of an

offender who was 14 years old when he committed four murders. *State v. Ramos*, No. 32027-8-III, 2015 WL 4760496 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2015). Unlike here, the trial court in *Ramos* acknowledged its discretion to: (1) adopt a mitigated sentence in light of *Miller*, and (2) let the separate sentences on each count run concurrently. Because of this difference, the issues in *Ramos* are not the same as here and we conclude *Ramos* does not indicate that *Ronquillo*'s sentence should be affirmed. To the extent *Ramos* might be interpreted as reasoning that *Miller* does not apply in cases of nonlife sentences or aggregate sentences, we respectfully disagree.”

The *Ronquillo* court recognized the significant differences between their case and that of *Ramos*. The only dispute that the *Ronquillo* court had with the *Ramos* court was the extent to which *Miller* applied to the sentence in each of their respective case. Regardless of how the *Ramos* court's interpretation of the application of *Miller*, the trial court in this case considered and applied the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in *Miller* by taking into consideration the defendant age.

D. THE PROSECUTION DID NOT BREACH ITS OBLIGATION UNDER THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

The petitioner claims that the prosecution violated its plea agreement by telling the court that Mr. Ramos could have received an

exceptional sentence above the standard range for his conduct. [Petition for Review, pg. 17-20]. Contrary to the petitioner's claim, the prosecutor made it quite clear that it was not seeking an exceptional sentence. As the record reflects that the prosecutor was not advocating for an aggravating sentence based upon the death of Bryan Skelton. (10/15/2013 RP 141). The prosecutor recommended a sentence of 80 years pursuant to the plea agreement. (10/15/2013 RP 143). This was acknowledged by the sentencing court. (10/15/2013 RP 176).

In addressing questions posed by the court, the prosecutor explained the statutory authority of the court, fulfilling its obligation of being candid with the court pursuant to RPC 3.3(a)(1). In State v. Talley, 134 Wn.2d 176, 949 P.2d 358 (1978), the court stated that,

The State is also obligated to adhere to the terms of a plea agreement by recommending the agreed-upon sentence. State v. Coppin, 57 Wn. App. 866, 791 P.2d 228, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1011, 797 P.2d 512 (1990). Although the recommendation need not be made enthusiastically, the prosecutor is obliged to act in good faith, participate in the sentencing proceedings, answer the court's questions candidly in accordance with RPC 3.3 and, consistent with RCW 9.94A.460, not hold back relevant information regarding the plea agreement. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). Although the State does not breach the agreement by not advocating for the sentence beyond making the bargained-for recommendation, it has an obligation not to undercut a plea bargain with a defendant. In re Palodichuk, 22 Wn. App. 107, 110, 589 P.2d 269 (1978).

Talley, 134 Wn.2d at 183.

In both Talley and Sledge, *infra*, the procedural posture of the cases were substantially different than what is presented here. In each of those cases, there was an agreement by the parties wherein each would be asking the court for a sentence within the standard range. That was the procedural status of this case at the time the plea was entered and the original sentence on August 23, 1993. However, beginning in 2005, the defendant commenced his attempt at obtaining a full resentencing.

Statements made by the prosecutor were intended to maintain the status quo of an 80 year sentence in light of the appellant's attempt at resentencing of a sentence of 25 years. The facts of the case were well known to the trial court, it having reviewed this court's opinion. In particular, the appellant was warned in the concurring opinion, fn. 4, pg. 55, Judge Korsmo stated "There is nothing to prohibit the prosecutor from arguing against an exceptional sentence (while maintaining its 80-year recommendation), and Mr. Ramos's actions in slaughtering a young boy in order not to leave any witnesses seriously undercut his argument that he was a follower rather than an equally culpable actor. A full resentencing could just as easily result in a standard range sentence of 106 years rather than the 80 years recommended by the prosecutor."

The prosecutor at numerous times during the resentencing asked the court to follow the recommendation for 80 years from the previous

sentencing hearing in 1993. (10/15/2013 RP 143, 144). The prosecutor even spoke to a middle ground sentence of 411 to 548 months (34.25 to 45.66 years), a period of time between the 320 months sought by the defense and the 80 years in the plea agreement. (10/15/2013 RP 143, 144). Clearly the prosecutor's arguments were necessary to counter the attempt by the appellant to reduce his sentence to 1/3 of the original sentence.